
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Mark Ammel, Mayor 
Karen Moore, Mayor Pro Tem 

Ronald J. Beauchamp, Council Member 
Tyler DuBord, Council Member  

Todd Flath, Council Member 

 
CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING AGENDA 

November 2, 2023 
 

James R. McNeil, City Manager 
Phil DeMay, City Clerk 

Laura J. Genovich, City Attorney 

 
City Council Chambers located at: City Hall – 410 Ludington Street – Room C101 – Escanaba, MI 49829 

The Council has adopted a policy to use a Consent Agenda, when appropriate. All items with an asterisk (*) are considered routine by the City Council and will be enacted by one motion. There will be no separate discussion 
of these items unless a Council Member or citizen so requests, in which event, the item will be removed from the General Order of Business and considered in its normal sequence on the Agenda. 
 

Regular Meeting 
Thursday, November 2, 2023, at 7:00 p.m. 

CALL TO ORDER 
ROLL CALL 
INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
APPROVAL/CORRECTION(S) TO MINUTES – Regular Meeting – October 19, 2023 
APPROVAL/ADJUSTMENTS TO THE AGENDA 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION(S) 
BRIEF PUBLIC COMMENT(S) 
PUBLIC HEARINGS – None 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None 
NEW BUSINESS  
 
1. Approval – Body Cameras – Public Safety. 

Explanation:  Administration is seeking City Council approval to purchase thirty (30) Motorola Body Cameras from 
Motorola Solutions at a cost of $96,570.00. 
 

2. Approval – Traffic Control Order (TCO) No. 1013 – Public Safety. 
Explanation:  Administration is seeking City Council approval of TCO No. 1013. Traffic Control Orders expire 90 days 
from the filing date unless approved by Council. The Traffic Control Orders calls for the following: 
 No. 1013 – YIELD sign be placed at the intersection of South 16th Street & 16th Avenue South. 

 
3. Approval – Traffic Control Order (TCO) No. 1014 – Public Safety. 

Explanation:  Administration is seeking City Council approval of TCO No. 1014. Traffic Control Orders expire 90 days 
from the filing date unless approved by Council. The Traffic Control Order calls for the following: 

No. 1014 – NO PARKING while school is in session during the hours of 6:30 am – 7:30 am & 2:00 pm – 3:00 pm. 
sign be installed in front of the 1st and 2nd angle parking spots West of South 15th Street on the south side of 
Ludington Street. 

 
4. Approval – Escanaba Christmas Tree Lighting – DDA. 

Explanation: Administration is requesting City Council approval for South 11th Street be closed from Ludington Street 
to the alley for the Escanaba Christmas Tree Lighting scheduled for November 21, 2023, at 5:00 p.m.  
 

5. Approval - Closure of Ludington Street for Christmas Parade - DDA. 
Explanation: Administration is requesting City Council approval for the closure of Ludington Street for the annual 
Christmas Parade scheduled for December 1, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
 



Agenda – November 2, 2023 
 
6. Approval – City Land Sale – Lot 8 of the Whitetail Industrial Park – Manager. 

Explanation: Soo Hill Sanitation has requested to purchase 1.53 acres of city land known as Lot 8 of the Whitetail 
Industrial Park. The Planning Commission has recommended the sale based on the intended use. The offer is 
consistent with recent city industrial land sales. Administration recommends approval with an 18 month construction 
requirement. 
 

7. Approval – City Land Sale – North 32nd Street – Manager. 
Explanation: Weaver Contracting has requested to purchase 1.00 acre of city land on North 32nd Street. The Planning 
Commission has recommended the sale based on the intended use. The offer is consistent with recent city industrial 
land sales. Administration recommends approval with an 18 month construction requirement. 
 

8. Approval – Resolution No. 23-24 – Patrons of Escanaba Schools Performing Arts – Nonprofit – Manager. 
Explanation: Patrons of Escanaba Schools Performing Arts is seeking City Council approval of Resolution No. 23-24 , 
recognizing them as a nonprofit organization operating in the community for the purpose of obtaining a Charitable 
Gaming License from the State of Michigan. 
 

9. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1284, An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 26 – Taxation of the Code of Ordinances of 
the City of Escanaba, and Setting the Date of Thursday, November 16, 2023, for the Second Reading, Public Hearing, 
and Adoption - Manager. 
Explanation:  Administration is requesting the City Council to consider this the first reading of Ordinance No. 1284, An 
Ordinance to Amend Chapter 26 – Taxation of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Escanaba – Meadowbrook 
Apartments. Administration is requesting that the City Council set November 16, 2023, for the second reading, public 
hearing adoption of Ordinance No. 1284. 
 

10. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1285, An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 26 – Taxation of the Code of Ordinances of 
the City of Escanaba, and Setting the Date of Thursday, November 16, 2023, for the Second Reading, Public Hearing, 
and Adoption - Manager. 
Explanation:  Administration is requesting the City Council to consider this the first reading of Ordinance No. 1285, An 
Ordinance to Amend Chapter 26 – Taxation of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Escanaba – Willow Grove 
Townhomes. Administration is requesting that the City Council set November 16, 2023, for the second reading, public 
hearing adoption of Ordinance No. 1285. 
 

11. Approval – Mutual of Omaha Life and Disability Benefits – HR Director/Treasurer. 
Explanation: Administration is requesting City Council approval to contract with Mutual of Omaha for life and disability 
benefits. The proposed contract will save the city $764.28 annually. 

 
APPOINTMENTS          
BOARD, COMMISSION, AND COMMITTEE REPORTS      
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT        
ANNOUNCEMENTS       
ADJOURNMENT          
 

 
Respectfully Submitted,  

  
 
James R. McNeil  
City Manager 

 
 
 
 



 OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY OF ESCANABA, MICHIGAN 
Regular Council Meeting 

Thursday, October 19, 2023 
 
The meeting was called to order by the Honorable Mayor Mark Ammel at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers of City Hall located at 410 Ludington Street. 
 
Present: Mayor Mark Ammel, Council Members, Ronald J. Beauchamp, Tyler 

DuBord, Todd Flath, and Karen Moore 
 
Absent: None 
 
Also Present: City Manager James R. McNeil, City Clerk Phil DeMay, Department Heads, 

media, and members of the public. 
 

City Clerk DeMay led Council in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
DuBord moved,  Moore seconded, CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY, to approve Joint 
Work Session minutes from October 5, 2023, as submitted. 
 
DuBord moved,  Beauchamp seconded, CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY, to approve 
Regular Meeting minutes from October 5, 2023, as submitted. 
 

 
ADJUSTMENTS TO THE AGENDA 
 

DuBord moved,  Flath seconded, CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY, to approve the City 
Council Agenda as submitted. 
 

 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION – None 
 
BRIEF PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

• Terra Langham – Regional Manager of MERS discussed NB-6. 
  

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS – None 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
NB-1 Approval – PFAS Retainer Agreement – Manager. 
 

Administration requested City Council approval of a retention agreement with Edelson 
PC and Goodman Acker PC. The firms would represent the city in the ongoing PFAS 
litigation. Administration sent three proposals to Foster Swift for review, and this 
agreement was recommended. 



City Council Minutes  
October 19, 2023 – cont. 
 

2 
 

NB-1DuBord moved, Moore seconded, to approve of a retention agreement with 
Edelson PC and Goodman Acker PC to represent the city in the ongoing PFAS 
litigation. 
 
Upon a call of the roll, the vote was as follows: 
 
Ayes: DuBord, Moore, Beauchamp, Flath, Mayor Ammel 
Nays: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED. 
  

 
NB-2 Approval – Two (2) 2023 GMC Savana Cargo Vans RWD 2500 – Water. 
 

Administration requested City Council approval to purchase two (2) 2023 GMC 
Savana Cargo Vans RWD 2500 complete with ladder racks and shelving from Todd 
Wenzel Buick-GMC of Westland, Michigan at a cost of $82,764.00 ($41,382.00 per 
cargo van) with contingencies of $5,236 ($2,618.00 per cargo van) to include signage, 
amber lighting, and city 2-way radios in an amount not to exceed $88,000.00. Money 
was not budgeted but is available for this purchase in the water fund. 
 
NB-2 Beauchamp moved, Moore seconded, to approve to purchase two (2) 2023 
GMC Savana Cargo Vans RWD 2500 complete with ladder racks and shelving from 
Todd Wenzel Buick-GMC of Westland, Michigan at a cost of $82,764.00 ($41,382.00 
per cargo van) with contingencies of $5,236 ($2,618.00 per cargo van) to include 
signage, amber lighting, and city 2-way radios in an amount not to exceed $88,000.00. 

 
Upon a call of the roll, the vote was as follows: 
 
Ayes: Beauchamp, Moore, DuBord, Flath, Mayor Ammel 
Nays: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED. 

 
 
NB-3 Approval – Engineering Services for DWSRF – ARPA-2 Project – Water.  
 

Administration requested City Council approval to retain C2AE from Escanaba, MI, for 
engineering services with regard to the City of Escanaba DWSRF ARPA-2 Project in 
an amount not to exceed $2,320,900.00. 
 
NB-3 Moore moved, Beauchamp seconded, to approve to retain C2AE from 
Escanaba, MI, for engineering services with regard to the City of Escanaba DWSRF 
ARPA-2 Project in an amount not to exceed $2,320,900.00. 
 
Upon a call of the roll, the vote was as follows: 
 
Ayes: Moore, Beauchamp, DuBord, Flath, Mayor Ammel 
Nays: None 



City Council Minutes  
October 19, 2023 – cont. 
 

3 
 

MOTION CARRIED. 
 

 
NB-4 Approval – Engineering Services for WTP Filter Bed Rehabilitation – Water.  
 

Administration requested City Council approval to retain C2AE from Escanaba, MI, for 
engineering services with regard to the City of Escanaba Water Treatment Plant Filter 
Bed Rehabilitation in an amount not to exceed $8,000.00. Money was not budgeted 
but is available in the water fund under professional services for this type of work. 
 
NB-4 Flath moved, DuBord seconded, to approve to retain C2AE from Escanaba, MI, 
for engineering services with regard to the City of Escanaba Water Treatment Plant 
Filter Bed Rehabilitation in an amount not to exceed $8,000.00. 
 
Upon a call of the roll, the vote was as follows: 
 
Ayes: Flath, DuBord, Moore, Beauchamp, Mayor Ammel 
Nays: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED. 

 
 
NB-5 Approval – Ludington Lift Station Inspection - Asbestos – Wastewater.  
 

Administration requested City Council approval to obtain the services of Pearson 
Asbestos Abatement of Escanaba, Michigan to carry out non-destructive inspection 
of the Ludington Lift Station building for asbestos containing materials and paint for 
lead and cadmium in an amount not to exceed $2,000.00. Money was budgeted and 
available for this type of activity. 
 
NB-5 Moore moved, Flath seconded, to approve to obtain the services of Pearson 
Asbestos Abatement of Escanaba, Michigan to carry out non-destructive inspection 
of the Ludington Lift Station building for asbestos containing materials and paint for 
lead and cadmium in an amount not to exceed $2,000.00. 
 
Upon a call of the roll, the vote was as follows: 
 
Ayes: Moore, Flath, Beauchamp, DuBord, Mayor Ammel 
Nays: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 

 
NB-6 Approval – Resolution 23-22 – Termination of Participation in MERS Defined 
Benefit Plan - Manager.  
 

Administration requested City Council approval of a resolution terminating 
participation in the MERS Defined Benefit Plan. This resolution was in accordance 
with the MERS Plan Termination Policy. Assets, liabilities, and fiduciary duties will 



City Council Minutes  
October 19, 2023 – cont. 
 

4 
 

transfer to the successor plan. 
 
NB-6 “By Council Member DuBord, seconded by Council Member Moore; 

 
Resolution 23-22 

 
Resolution by the City of Escanaba 

 
Regarding Termination of Participation in MERS’ Defined Benefit Plan 

 
Whereas, on October 19, 2023, the City Council of the City of Escanaba elected, by 
two-thirds vote of its membership, to terminate participation for all divisions of the 
MERS Defined Benefit Plan and transfer assets, liabilities and fiduciary duties to the 
City of Escanaba Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (“Successor Plan”), a governmental 
pension plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”);  
 
Whereas, MERS Plan Document Section 11 and MERS’ Termination Policy and 
Procedure require that the City Council certify and affirm certain information as a 
condition of termination of participation in the MERS Defined Benefit Plan; and 
 
Whereas, the City Council has reviewed MERS Plan Document Section 11 and 
MERS’ Termination Policy and Procedure and affirms it satisfies all requirements and 
conditions for termination of participation from the MERS Defined Benefit Plan;  
 
Now, therefore, the City Council hereby resolves: 
 

1. Termination of participation in the MERS Defined Benefit will not result in a 
diminishment of any accrued financial benefit by members, deferred vested 
former members, retirees or beneficiaries, as defined under the MERS Plan 
Document, under Article 9, Section 24 of the Michigan Constitution; 

2. The City of Escanaba acknowledges the requirement to fund the Successor 
Plan for the benefit of its participants, as required by all applicable laws and 
regulations and agrees to so fund the plan; 

3. The City of Escanaba and its designees will be the fiduciary for the 
Successor Plan to administer the Successor Plan, receive and invest the 
assets and liabilities to be transferred from the MERS Defined Benefit Plan 
to the Successor Plan, as set forth in the termination valuation conducted 
by MERS. 

4. The Successor Plan is a qualified plan under IRC section 401(a); it has, to 
the best of City Council’s knowledge, maintained that qualified status 
through the date of this Agreement, and intends to maintain such status until 
final plan termination; 

5. As the plan sponsor of the Successor Plan, City of Escanaba has adopted 
or has directed the adoption of reasonable actuarial assumptions for the 
Successor Plan, developed using the Actuarial Standards of Practice of the 
Actuarial Standards Board. 

6. On the effective date of termination of participation in the MERS Defined 
Benefit Plan, to be determined by MERS, all responsibilities and liabilities 
of investment fiduciaries as set forth under the Public Employees 



City Council Minutes  
October 19, 2023 – cont. 
 

5 
 

Retirement Investment Security Act, Act 314 of 1965, as amended, and 
fiduciary, plan administrator and trustee (under all other applicable state or 
federal common or statutory laws or regulations) will transfer from MERS to 
the Successor Plan and its Fiduciary Officials as defined below; and 

7. In accordance with MERS Plan Document Section 11 and the MERS’ 
Termination Policy and Procedure, the City Council directs the Fiduciary 
Officials for the Successor Plan to execute this resolution as an 
acknowledgment of the fiduciary duties being transferred. 

 
Upon a call of the roll, the vote was as follows: 
 
Ayes: DuBord, Moore, Beauchamp, Mayor Ammel  
Nays: Flath 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.” 
 

 
NB-7 Approval – Resolution 23-23 – Adoption of City of Escanaba Defined Benefit 
Retirement Plan - Manager.  
 

Administration requested City Council approval of a resolution adopting all the 
components of the City of Escanaba Defined Benefit Retirement Plan. This approval 
includes the Plan document, establishment of the Retirement Board, Board Rules of 
Procedure, and Statement of Investment Policy. 
 
NB-7 “By Council Member DuBord, seconded by Council Member Beauchamp; 
 

Resolution 23-23 
 

CITY OF ESCANABA 
CITY COUNCIL 

 
RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE CITY OF ESCANABA’S DEFINED BENEFIT 

RETIREMENT PLAN AND ESTABLISHMENT OF RETIREMENT BOARD 
 

WHEREAS, the City currently participates in the Municipal Employees’ Retirement 
System of Michigan (“MERS”) Defined Benefit Plan (the “MERS Plan”).  The MERS 
Plan is administered by MERS, a professional retirement services company that was 
created to administer retirement plans for Michigan’s local units of government; 
 

WHEREAS, the lack of funding progress of the MERS Plan has contributed to 
financial stress on the City that has intensified in recent years. City management has 
lost confidence in MERS and believes that it could achieve better financial outcomes 
by terminating participation in the MERS Defined Benefit Plan and establishing a 
successor plan that would be overseen by a retirement board established by the City; 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the MERS Retirement Board Termination Policy and 
Procedure, this City Council voted by resolution to terminate participation in the MERS 
Defined Benefit Plan and to transfer all of its MERS Plan assets and liabilities to a 



City Council Minutes  
October 19, 2023 – cont. 
 

6 
 

successor defined benefit plan.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY the City Council of City of Escanaba 
that: 
1. The City Council adopts the City of Escanaba Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (the 

“Plan”), a copy of which is attached hereto.  
 
2. The City Council approves the transfer of assets and liabilities from the MERS 

Defined Benefit Plan to the Plan. 
 
3. The City Council adopts the City of Escanaba Defined Benefit Retirement Plan 

Statement of Investment Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto. 
 
4. The City Council establishes the City of Escanaba Defined Benefit Retirement Plan 

Board (the “Retirement Board”). The Retirement Board will be a five-member board 
consisting of the City Manager, the City Controller, the City Treasurer, one member 
of the City Council, and one member of the public with preference to any Plan 
member. The Retirement Board is responsible for oversight and decision making 
relating to the general operation of the Plan in accordance with the Statement of 
Investment Policy. 

 
5. The City Council adopts the City of Escanaba Defined Benefit Retirement Plan 

Board Rules of Procedure, a copy of which is attached hereto.  
 
6. The City Manager is authorized to execute the Plan document and any other 

documents necessary to implement the foregoing Resolutions. 
 
Upon a call of the roll, the vote was as follows: 
 
Ayes: DuBord, Beauchamp, Moore, Mayor Ammel   
Nays: Flath 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.” 
 
DuBord moved, seconded Beauchamp, along with council consensus to direct legal 
counsel to correct any additional or grammatical errors within the Defined Benefit 

Retirement Plan document (not the actual “resolution”) 
 
 
APPOINTMENT(S) TO CITY BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES – None 
 
BOARD, COMMISSION, AND COMMITTEE REPORTS  
  

Council Members reviewed City Board and Commission meetings each attended 
since the last City Council Meeting. 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes  
October 19, 2023 – cont. 
 

7 
 

GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT  
 

• Scott Aughney – discussed elections.  
 

 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

• Trick or Treat Tuesday October 31st 5:00-7:00pm.  

• DDA will be holding Trunk or Treat on October 22nd.  

• Happy Halloween! 
 

Hearing no further public comment, Flath moved, DuBord seconded, the Council 
adjourned at 7:42 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Phil DeMay     Approved: ____________________ 
City Clerk              Mark Ammel, Mayor 















                              City of Escanaba, Michigan  
Distribution: 1013                                      Traffic Control Order 
                                            
       City Manager             
         City Engineer                                                                
    City Clerk      
       Public Works 
       Public Safety 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Traffic Control Order Number: 1013                                                   Date of Filing: October 25, 2023 
 
In accordance with Chapter 27 of the Escanaba Code of Ordinances as amended, we have made an investigation of the traffic 
Conditions on:                           
at or near the intersection of:      South 16th Street & 16th Avenue South  
 
 
And as a result of said investigation, do hereby direct that: 
 That a YIELD sign be placed at this intersection  
 
 
Further that the following controls be placed at the following locations: 
 
 
  
 
 
Sign Direction (Facing):      South  
 
 
Sign(s) Location:         South Side of 16th Street 
 
 
The following Traffic Control Oder(s) are hereby rescinded: __________________ 
 

This order shall expire 90 days from date of filing except that upon its approval by the Escanaba City Council, 
it shall not so expire. 
 
 
                                        
                              ______________________                              Signed: ___________________________________ 
                               Date of Filing with City Clerk                                                             Traffic Engineer 
 
 
                                                          

                                  _________________________                                     By: _______________________________________ 

                                   Received for filing (date)                                                                         City Clerk 
 

   Approved by the City of Escanaba Council on _______________________ 
                                                                                                          Date 

 
 

    The Traffic Control Order is effective upon posting of the required street signs. 





                              City of Escanaba, Michigan  
Distribution:   1014                                 Traffic Control Order 
                                            
       City Manager             
         City Engineer                                                                
    City Clerk      
       Public Works 
       Public Safety 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Traffic Control Order Number: 1014                                                   Date of Filing:  October 25, 2023 
 
In accordance with Chapter 27 of the Escanaba Code of Ordinances as amended, we have made an investigation of the traffic 
Conditions on:                       Ludington Street  
 
 
at or near the intersection of:     South 15th Street  
 
 
And as a result of said investigation, do hereby direct that: 
 That a NO PARKING while school is in session during the hours of  6:30 am – 7:30 am & 2:00 pm – 3:00 pm  sign 
 
 
Further that the following controls be placed at the following locations: 
 
Installed in front of the 1st and 2nd  angle parking spots West of South 15th Street on the south side of Ludington Street 
  
 
 
Sign Direction (Facing):       North    
 
 
Sign(s) Location:  In front of the two angle parking spots described above     
 
 
The following Traffic Control Oder(s) are hereby rescinded: __________________ 
 

This order shall expire 90 days from date of filing except that upon its approval by the Escanaba City Council, 
it shall not so expire. 
 
 
                                        
                              ______________________                              Signed: ___________________________________ 
                               Date of Filing with City Clerk                                                             Traffic Engineer 
 
 
                                                          

                                  _________________________                                     By: _______________________________________ 

                                   Received for filing (date)                                                                         City Clerk 
 

   Approved by the City of Escanaba Council on _______________________ 
                                                                                                          Date 

 
 

    The Traffic Control Order is effective upon posting of the required street signs. 





















 
 
 
 
P.O. Box 948 • Escanaba, MI 49829-0948                                                              (906)786-9402 • fax (906) 786-4755 
 
 
 

Mission Statement: 

Enhancing the enjoyment and livability of our community by providing 
quality municipal services. 

The City of Escanaba is an equal opportunity employer and provider. 

 

James McNeil 
City of Escanaba 
410 Ludington Street 
Escanaba, MI 49829 
jmcneil@escanaba.org 
 
October 26, 2023 
 
Escanaba City Council 
 
RE: Land Sale Request – Lot 8 Whitetail Industrial Park 
 
City administration received a land sale request for Lot 8 of the Whitetail Industrial Park from 
Soo Hill Sanitation. The proposed use was reviewed by the Planning Commission and 
recommended to City Council for approval. The planning commission minutes describe the 
intended use in detail and are included in this agenda packet. 
 
City administration views the offer as reasonable. The offer is consistent with recent and 
comparable city industrial land sales and appraisals. 
 
 

Recent City Industrial Sales 

Buyer Area Date Price Acres $/Acre 

NuWay 
Whitetail Industrial 
Park 4/6/2023 

         
48,860  3.49 

         
14,000  

UP Towing & 
Transport 

Whitetail Industrial 
Park 9/26/2022 

         
22,375  1.53 

         
14,624  

ServPro North 32nd Street 9/1/2022 
         
16,500  

   
1.00  

         
16,500  

      

Offer Received 

Soo Hill Sanitation 
Whitetail Industrial 
Park   

         
23,000  1.58 

         
14,557  

 
 
 
James McNeil 
City Manager/City Assessor 
City of Escanaba 
(906) 789-7322 

 

 

 













 
 
 
 
P.O. Box 948 • Escanaba, MI 49829-0948                                                              (906)786-9402 • fax (906) 786-4755 
 
 
 

Mission Statement: 

Enhancing the enjoyment and livability of our community by providing 
quality municipal services. 

The City of Escanaba is an equal opportunity employer and provider. 

 

James McNeil 
City of Escanaba 
410 Ludington Street 
Escanaba, MI 49829 
jmcneil@escanaba.org 
 
October 26, 2023 
 
Escanaba City Council 
 
RE: Land Sale Request – North 32nd Street 
 
City administration received a land sale request 1.00 acre on North 32nd street from Weaver 
Contracting. The proposed use was reviewed by the Planning Commission and recommended 
to City Council for approval. The planning commission minutes describe the intended use in 
detail and are included in this agenda packet. 
 
City administration views the offer as reasonable. The offer is consistent with recent and 
comparable city industrial land sales and appraisals. 
 
 

Recent City Industrial Sales 

Buyer Area Date Price Acres $/Acre 

NuWay 
Whitetail Industrial 
Park 4/6/2023 

         
48,860  3.49 

         
14,000  

UP Towing & 
Transport 

Whitetail Industrial 
Park 9/26/2022 

         
22,375  1.53 

         
14,624  

ServPro North 32nd Street 9/1/2022 
         
16,500  

   
1.00  

         
16,500  

      

Offer Received 

Weaver Contracting North 32nd Street   
         
16,500  

   
1.00  

         
16,500  

 
 
 
James McNeil 
City Manager/City Assessor 
City of Escanaba 
(906) 789-7322 

 

 

 

















 ORDINANCE NO. 1284  
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 26 – TAXATION 
OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF ESCANABA 

 
 An Ordinance to provide for a service charge in lieu of taxes for a housing project 
for low income persons and families to be financed with a federally-aided Mortgage Loan 
pursuant to the provisions of the State Housing Development Authority Act of 1966 (1966 
PA 346, as amended; MCL 125.1401, et seq) (the "Act").   
 
 THE CITY OF ESCANABA ORDAINS: 
 

CHAPTER I 
 
 Chapter 26 – Taxation of the Escanaba Code of Ordinances is hereby amended 
by adding Division 10, Meadowbrook Apartments, to read as follows: 
 

CHAPTER 26 – TAXATION 
 

ARTICLE III, SERVICE CHARGE IN LIEU OF PROPERTY TAXES 
FOR HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 

 
Sec. 26.116. Preamble. 
 

It is acknowledged that it is a proper public purpose of the State of Michigan and 
its political subdivisions to provide housing for its low income persons and families and to 
encourage the development of such housing by providing for a service charge in lieu of 
property taxes in accordance with the Act.  The City of Escanaba is authorized by this Act 
to establish or change the service charge to be paid in lieu of taxes by any or all classes 
of housing exempt from taxation under this Act at any amount it chooses, not to exceed 
the taxes that would be paid but for this Act.  It is further acknowledged that such housing 
for low income persons and families is a public necessity, and as the City will be benefited 
and improved by such housing, the encouragement of the same by providing real estate 
tax exemption for such housing is a valid public purpose.  It is further acknowledged that 
the continuance of the provisions of this Ordinance for tax exemption and the service 
charge in lieu of all ad valorem taxes during the period contemplated in this Ordinance 
are essential to the determination of economic feasibility of the housing projects that is 
constructed or rehabilitated with financing extended in reliance on such tax exemption.   
 

The City acknowledges that the Sponsor  (as defined below) has offered, subject 
to receipt of  an allocation under the LIHTC Program by the Michigan State Housing 
Development Authority, to acquire and rehabilitate, own and operate a housing project 
identified as Meadowbrook Apartments  on certain property located at 3610 8th Avenue 
in the City of Escanaba to serve low income persons and families, and that the Sponsor 
has offered to pay the City on account of this housing project an annual service charge 
for public services in lieu of all ad valorem property taxes.  

 
Land situated in the City of Escanaba, County of Delta, state of Michigan, 

described as follows: 
 

From the NW Corner of Section 36 T.39N.,R.23W., measure S.89°30’20”E. 
along the north line of said Section a distance of 490.04 feet to the NE Corner of 
W1/2 of E1/2 of W1/2 of NW1/4 of NW1/4, thence S.1°31’55” W. along the east line 
of said W1/2 of E1/2 of W1/2 of NW1/4 of NW1/4 a distance of 959.84 feet to the point 
of beginning of the land herein described, thence continue S.1°31’55”W. along said 
east line a distance of 337.00 feet, to a point that is 40.02 feet north of the SE corner 
of said W1/2 of E1/2 of W1/2 of NW1/4 of NW1/4, thence S.89°52’38” W. parallel with 
the South line of said NW1/4 of NW1/4 a distance of 457.97 feet to a point that is 
35.0 feet east of the west line of said NW1/4 of NW1/4, thence N.1°39’22”E. parallel 
with said west line a distance of 337.00 feet, thence N89°52’29”E. a distance of 
457.24 feet to the point of beginning. Containing 3.54 acres.  
 
Sec. 26-117.  Definitions.  
  

1. Authority means the Michigan State Housing Development Authority.  



Ordinance No. 1284 

2 
 

2. Annual Shelter Rent means the total collections during an agreed 
annual period from or paid on behalf of all occupants of a housing 
project representing rent or occupancy charges, exclusive of Utilities.   

 
 3. LIHTC Program means the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program 

administered by the Authority under Section 42 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 
 4. Low Income Persons and Families means persons and families 

eligible to move into a housing project. 
   
 5. Mortgage Loan means a loan that is Federally-Aided  (as defined in 

Section 11 of the Act) or a loan or grant made or to be made by the 
Authority to the Sponsor for the construction, rehabilitation, acquisition 
and/or permanent financing of a housing project, and secured by a 
mortgage on the housing project. 

 
6. Sponsor means Upper Peninsula Commission for Area Progress  and 

any entity that receives or assumes a Mortgage Loan.    
 

 7. Utilities means charges for gas, electric, water, sanitary sewer and 
other utilities furnished to the occupants that are paid by the housing 
project.    

 
 Sec. 26.118. Class of Housing Projects. 
 
 It is determined that the class of housing projects to which the tax exemption shall 
apply and for which a service charge shall be paid in lieu of such taxes shall be  housing 
projects for Low Income Persons and Families  that are financed with a Mortgage Loan 
and/or an award of Low Income Housing Tax Credits.  It is further determined that 
Meadowbrook Apartments is of this class.    
 
Sec. 26-119. Establishment of Annual Service Charge. 
 

The  housing project identified as Meadowbrook Apartments and the property on 
which it is located shall be exempt from all ad valorem property taxes from and after the 
commencement of construction or rehabilitation.  The City acknowledges that the 
Sponsor and the Authority have established the economic feasibility of the  housing 
project in reliance upon the enactment and continuing effect of this Ordinance, and the 
qualification of the housing project for exemption from all ad valorem property taxes and 
a payment in lieu of taxes as established in this Ordinance. Therefore, in consideration of 
the Sponsor's offer to rehabilitate and operate the housing project, the City agrees to 
accept payment of an annual service charge for public services in lieu of all ad valorem 
property taxes.  Subject to receipt of a Mortgage Loan, the annual service charge shall 
be equal to  6 % of the Annual Shelter Rents actually collected by the housing project 
during each operating year.    
 
Sec. 26-120. Limitation on the Payment of Annual Service Charge. 
 
 Notwithstanding Section 5, the service charge to be paid each year in lieu of taxes 
for the part of the housing project that is tax exempt but which is occupied by other than 
low income persons or families shall be equal to the full amount of the taxes which would 
be paid on that portion of the housing project if the housing project were not tax exempt.     
 
Sec. 26.121. Contractual Effect of Ordinance. 
 

Notwithstanding the provisions of section 15(a)(5) of the Act to the contrary, a 
contract between the City and the Sponsor with the Authority as third party beneficiary 
under the contract, to provide tax exemption and accept payments in lieu of taxes, as 
previously described, is effectuated by enactment of this Ordinance.   
 
Sec. 26.122.  Payment of Service Charge. 
 

The annual service charge in lieu of taxes as determined under this Ordinance 
shall be payable in the same manner as general property taxes are payable to the City 



Ordinance No. 1284 

3 
 

distributed to the several units levying the general property tax in the same proportion as 
prevailed with the general property tax in the previous calendar year.   The annual 
payment for each operating year shall be paid to the City Treasurer on or before May 31 
of the following year.  Collection procedures shall be in accordance with the provisions of 
the General Property Tax Act (1893 PA 206, as amended; MCL 211.1, et seq).   
 
 Sec. 26.123. Duration. 
 

This Ordinance shall remain in effect and shall not terminate so long as a Mortgage 
Loan remains outstanding and unpaid and/or the housing project remains subject to 
income and rent restrictions under the LIHTC Program.  
 

CHAPTER II 
SAVINGS CLAUSE 

 
The various sections and provisions of this Ordinance shall be deemed to be 

severable, and should any section or provision of this Ordinance be declared by any court 
of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid the same shall not affect the 
validity of this Ordinance as a whole or any section or provision of this Ordinance, other 
than the section or provision so declared to be unconstitutional or invalid. 
 

CHAPTER III 
REPEALING CHAPTER 

 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent or in conflict with the provisions 

of this Ordinance are repealed to the extent of such inconsistency or conflict. 
 

CHAPTER IV 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) days after its passage and 
publication. 
 
APPROVED:  APPROVED: 
 
 
  __________________________  
Laura Genovich, City Attorney  Mark Ammel, Mayor 
 
 
Ordinance No. 1284   
  ATTEST: 
Date Approved:  
 
Date Published:   __________________________ 
  Phil DeMay, City Clerk 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of an ordinance 
duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Escanaba, County of Delta, Michigan at a 
Regular Meeting held on the (date) day of (month), 2023, and was published in the Daily 
Press, a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Escanaba on (day), (month) 
(date), 2023, and said meeting was conducted and public notice of said meeting was 
given pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public 
Acts of Michigan, 1976, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or 
have been made available as required by said Act. 
 
   
    
  Phil DeMay, City Clerk 
 





 

 ORDINANCE NO. 1285  
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 26 – TAXATION 
OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF ESCANABA 

 
An Ordinance to provide for a service charge in lieu of taxes for a housing project 

for low income persons and families to be financed with a federally-aided Mortgage Loan 
pursuant to the provisions of the State Housing Development Authority Act of 1966 (1966 
PA 346, as amended; MCL 125.1401, et seq) (the "Act").   
 

THE CITY OF ESCANABA ORDAINS: 
 

CHAPTER I 
 

Chapter 26 – Taxation of the Escanaba Code of Ordinances is hereby amended 
by adding Division 11, Willow Grove Townhomes, to read as follows: 

 
CHAPTER 26 – TAXATION 

 
ARTICLE III, SERVICE CHARGE IN LIEU OF PROPERTY TAXES 

FOR HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
 
Sec. 26-124. Preamble. 
 

It is acknowledged that it is a proper public purpose of the State of Michigan and 
its political subdivisions to provide housing for its low income persons and families and to 
encourage the development of such housing by providing for a service charge in lieu of 
property taxes in accordance with the Act.  The City of Escanaba is authorized by this Act 
to establish or change the service charge to be paid in lieu of taxes by any or all classes 
of housing exempt from taxation under this Act at any amount it chooses, not to exceed 
the taxes that would be paid but for this Act.  It is further acknowledged that such housing 
for low income persons and families is a public necessity, and as the City will be benefited 
and improved by such housing, the encouragement of the same by providing real estate 
tax exemption for such housing is a valid public purpose.  It is further acknowledged that 
the continuance of the provisions of this Ordinance for tax exemption and the service 
charge in lieu of all ad valorem taxes during the period contemplated in this Ordinance 
are essential to the determination of economic feasibility of the housing projects that is 
constructed or rehabilitated with financing extended in reliance on such tax exemption.   
 

The City acknowledges that the Sponsor  (as defined below) has offered, subject 
to receipt of  an allocation under the LIHTC Program by the Michigan State Housing 
Development Authority, to acquire and rehabilitate, own and operate a housing project 
identified as Willow Grove Townhomes  on certain property located at 850 S 8th Street in 
the City of Escanaba to serve low income persons and families, and that the Sponsor has 
offered to pay the City on account of this housing project an annual service charge for 
public services in lieu of all ad valorem property taxes.  

 
Land situated in the City of Escanaba, County of Delta, state of Michigan, 

described as follows: 
 

From the NW Corner of Section 36 T.39N.,R.23W., measure S.89°30’20”E. 
along the north line of said Section a distance of 490.04 feet to the NE Corner of 
W1/2 of E1/2 of W1/2 of NW1/4 of NW1/4, thence S.1°31’55” W, along the east line 
of said W1/2 of E1/2 of W1/2 of NW1/4 of NW1/4 a distance of 310.34 feet to the point 
of beginning of the land herein described, thence continue S.1°31’55” W. along said 
east line a distance of 649.50 feet, thence S.89°52’29”W. a distance of 457.24 feet 
to a point that is 35.0 feet east of the west line of said NW1/4 of NW1/4, thence 
N.1°39’22”E. parallel with said west line a distance of 649.50 feet, thence 
N.89°52’11”E. a distance of 455.84 feet to the point of beginning. Containing 6.80 
acres.  
 
Sec.26-125. Definitions.   
 

1. Authority means the Michigan State Housing Development Authority.  



Ordinance No. 1285 

2 
 

2. Annual Shelter Rent means the total collections during an agreed 
annual period from or paid on behalf of all occupants of a housing 
project representing rent or occupancy charges, exclusive of Utilities.   

 
 3. LIHTC Program means the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program 

administered by the Authority under Section 42 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 
 4. Low Income Persons and Families means persons and families 

eligible to move into a housing project. 
   
 5. Mortgage Loan means a loan that is Federally-Aided  (as defined in 

Section 11 of the Act) or a loan or grant made or to be made by the 
Authority to the Sponsor for the construction, rehabilitation, acquisition 
and/or permanent financing of a housing project, and secured by a 
mortgage on the housing project. 

 
6. Sponsor means Upper Peninsula Commission for Area Progress  and 

any entity that receives or assumes a Mortgage Loan.    
 
7. Utilities means charges for gas, electric, water, sanitary sewer and 

other utilities furnished to the occupants that are paid by the housing 
project.    

 
 Sec. 26-126. Class of Housing Projects. 
 

It is determined that the class of housing projects to which the tax exemption shall 
apply and for which a service charge shall be paid in lieu of such taxes shall be  housing 
projects for Low Income Persons and Families  that are financed with a Mortgage Loan 
and/or an award of Low Income Housing Tax Credits.  It is further determined that Willow 
Grove Townhomes is of this class.    
 
Sec. 26-127. Establishment of Annual Service Charge. 
 

The  housing project identified as Willow Grove Townhomes and the property on 
which it is located shall be exempt from all ad valorem property taxes from and after the 
commencement of construction or rehabilitation.  The City acknowledges that the 
Sponsor and the Authority have established the economic feasibility of the housing project 
in reliance upon the enactment and continuing effect of this Ordinance, and the 
qualification of the housing project for exemption from all ad valorem property taxes and 
a payment in lieu of taxes as established in this Ordinance. Therefore, in consideration of 
the Sponsor's offer to rehabilitate and operate the housing project, the City agrees to 
accept payment of an annual service charge for public services in lieu of all ad valorem 
property taxes.  Subject to receipt of a Mortgage Loan, the annual service charge shall 
be equal to  6 % of the Annual Shelter Rents actually collected by the housing project 
during each operating year.    
 
Sec. 26-128. Contractual Effect of Ordinance. 
 

Notwithstanding the provisions of section 15(a)(5) of the Act to the contrary, a 
contract between the City and the Sponsor with the Authority as third party beneficiary 
under the contract, to provide tax exemption and accept payments in lieu of taxes, as 
previously described, is effectuated by enactment of this Ordinance.   
 
Sec. 26-129. Limitation on the Payment of Annual Service Charge. 
 

Notwithstanding Section 5, the service charge to be paid each year in lieu of taxes 
for the part of the housing project that is tax exempt but which is occupied by other than 
low income persons or families shall be equal to the full amount of the taxes which would 
be paid on that portion of the housing project if the housing project were not tax exempt.     
 
Sec. 26-130. Payment of Service Charge. 
 

The annual service charge in lieu of taxes as determined under this Ordinance 
shall be payable in the same manner as general property taxes are payable to the City 



Ordinance No. 1285 

3 
 

distributed to the several units levying the general property tax in the same proportion as 
prevailed with the general property tax in the previous calendar year.   The annual 
payment for each operating year shall be paid to the City Treasurer on or before May 31 
of the following year.  Collection procedures shall be in accordance with the provisions of 
the General Property Tax Act (1893 PA 206, as amended; MCL 211.1, et seq).   
 
 Sec. 26-131. Duration. 
 

This Ordinance shall remain in effect and shall not terminate so long as a Mortgage 
Loan remains outstanding and unpaid and/or the housing project remains subject to 
income and rent restrictions under the LIHTC Program.  
 

CHAPTER II 
SAVINGS CLAUSE 

 
The various sections and provisions of this Ordinance shall be deemed to be 

severable, and should any section or provision of this Ordinance be declared by any court 
of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid the same shall not affect the 
validity of this Ordinance as a whole or any section or provision of this Ordinance, other 
than the section or provision so declared to be unconstitutional or invalid. 
 

CHAPTER III 
REPEALING CHAPTER 

 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent or in conflict with the provisions 

of this Ordinance are repealed to the extent of such inconsistency or conflict. 
 

CHAPTER IV 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) days after its passage and 
publication. 
 
APPROVED:  APPROVED: 
 
 
  __________________________  
Laura Genovich, City Attorney  Mark Ammel, Mayor 
 
 
Ordinance No. 1285   
  ATTEST: 
Date Approved:  
 
Date Published:   __________________________ 
  Phil DeMay, City Clerk 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of an ordinance 
duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Escanaba, County of Delta, Michigan at a 
Regular Meeting held on the (date) day of (month), 2023, and was published in the Daily 
Press, a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Escanaba on (day), (month) 
(date), 2023, and said meeting was conducted and public notice of said meeting was 
given pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public 
Acts of Michigan, 1976, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or 
have been made available as required by said Act. 
 
   
    
  Phil DeMay, City Clerk 
 






















	11.02.2023 - City Council Mtg - Regular
	cm10.19.2023
	NB-1
	MX-M363N_20231027_082420
	NB-1

	NB-2
	MX-M363N_20231027_085902
	TrafficControl Order - 1013

	NB-3
	MX-M363N_20231027_090249
	TrafficControl Order - 1014

	NB-4
	MX-M363N_20231027_090915

	NB-5
	MX-M363N_20231027_090931

	NB-6
	MX-M363N_20231027_092313
	NB-6
	SHS Memo
	SHS Offer
	PC Minutes Land Sales

	Whitetail Lot 8

	NB-7
	MX-M363N_20231027_092555
	Weaver Contracting Memo
	Weaver Offer
	PC Minutes Land Sales (1)

	NB-8
	NB-9
	MX-M363N_20231027_140932
	ord1284 PILOT Meadowbrook Apartments

	NB-10
	MX-M363N_20231027_141206
	ord1285 PILOT Willow Grove Townhomes

	NB-11
	MX-M363N_20231027_145611




